S271054

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEBRA TURNER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LAURIE ANNE VICTORIA, et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. D076318, D076337

> San Diego County Superior Court Trial Court Case No. 37-2017-00009873-PR-TR-CTL The Honorable Julia C. Kelety, Dept. 503 (Appeal No. D076318)

> San Diego County Superior Court Trial Court Case No. 37-2018-00038613-CU-MC-CTL The Honorable Kenneth J. Medel, Dept. C-66 (Appeal No. D076337)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does a director or officer of a California nonprofit public benefit corporation that brings an action pursuant to Cal. Corp. Code sections 5142, 5233, and/or 5223 lose her standing to continue litigating her claims if she is not nominated or reelected during the litigation?
- 2. Does Cal. Corp. Code section 800's "continuous ownership" requirement for shareholder derivative standing in the forprofit context equally deprive nonprofit public benefit corporation members of derivative standing under Cal. Corp. Code section 5710?

INTRODUCTION

This case is about safeguarding California charities from misconduct by the very individuals entrusted to protect and administer the charitable trust. Long troubled by the potential abuse of charitable funds and ensuing harm to the California public, the Legislature established a robust statutory framework—including the charity director enforcement statutes (Corporations Code, sections 5142, 5223, and 5233)—to prevent, identify, and rectify such malfeasance. These statutes expressly authorize responsible charity directors and officers to bring private enforcement actions against fellow directors, officers, trustees, and other culpable parties to remedy the harms suffered by the charity. At the same time, the charity member enforcement statute (section 5710) empowers charity members to institute derivative actions on the nonprofit's behalf to respond to similar misconduct.

Debra Turner seeks to address the unlawful diversion of \$15 million in charitable funds from the \$1 billion estate left to charity by the late San Diego philanthropist and Turner's life partner, Conrad Prebys. In direct contravention of Conrad's intent and the express terms of his trust, successor trustee Laurie Anne Victoria pursued a hasty settlement with Conrad's disinherited son, Eric Prebys. Then, in an effort to insulate herself as trustee, Victoria abused her director position to obtain the Foundation board's uninformed pre-approval of a settlement that ultimately deprived the California public of over \$15 million.

-

¹ All undesignated statutory references are to the Corporations Code.

During her service as a Foundation director, officer, and member, Turner witnessed firsthand these breaches of fiduciary duty and charitable trust by her fellow directors, led by Victoria in her dual director-trustee role. Turner objected to this diversion of \$15 million charitable dollars towards a non-charitable purpose in violation of both state law and Foundation bylaws. When the board rebuffed her concerns, Turner promptly filed suit under the enforcement statutes to protect the Foundation. Thereafter, with the goal of prematurely snuffing out the allegations against them, the accused directors (including Victoria in her director-trustee role) froze Turner out during the Foundation's next election and removed her as a director, officer, and member.

The question presented is whether gamesmanship by the accused directors (whether by removing the responsible director, officer, or member plaintiff, or freezing her out in the next election) can deprive such a plaintiff of standing to finish litigating her existing misconduct allegations. The trial court and Fourth District wrongly shoehorned into the enforcement statutes an atextual continuity requirement to find that Respondents' removal-by-election strategy deprived Turner of standing.

Contrary to the Fourth District's flawed holding, the enforcement statutes' fundamental purpose, unambiguous text, and statutory structure, and the Second District's reasoning in *Summers v. Colette*, overwhelmingly establish uninterrupted standing for Turner and other similarly-situated plaintiffs—irrespective of subsequent, involuntary loss of their director, officer, or member status. Turner's continued standing is further

bolstered by the Attorney General's longstanding interpretation, the Restatement of Charitable Nonprofit Organizations, and concordant wisdom from sister jurisdictions. Therefore, this Court should reverse the opinion below and permit Turner to litigate her misconduct allegations to completion.

RELEVANT STATUTES

A. Charity Director Enforcement Statutes

- 1. Section 5142, subd. (a)
- (a) Notwithstanding Section 5141, any of the following may bring an action to enjoin, correct, obtain damages for or to otherwise remedy a breach of a charitable trust: (1) The corporation, or a member in the name of the corporation pursuant to Section 5710.
- (2) An officer of the corporation. (3) A director of the corporation. .
- . . (5) The Attorney General, or any person granted relator status by the Attorney General.
 - 2. Section 5223, subd. (a)
- (a) The superior court of the proper county may, at the suit of a director, or twice the authorized number (Section 5036) of members or 20 members, whichever is less, remove from office any director in case of fraudulent or dishonest acts or gross abuse of authority or discretion with reference to the corporation or breach of any duty arising under Article 3 (commencing with Section 5230) of this chapter, and may bar from reelection any director so removed for a period prescribed by the court. . . .
 - 3. Section 5233, subd. (c)
- (c) The Attorney General or, if the Attorney General is joined as an indispensable party, any of the following may bring an action in

the superior court of the proper county for the remedies specified in subdivision (h): (1) The corporation, or a member asserting the right in the name of the corporation pursuant to Section 5710. (2) A director of the corporation. (3) An officer of the corporation. (4) Any person granted relator status by the Attorney General.

B. Charity Member Enforcement Statute

- 1. Section 5710, subd. (b)
- (b) No action may be instituted or maintained in the right of any corporation by any member of such corporation unless . . . [t]he plaintiff alleges in the complaint that plaintiff was a member at the time of the transaction or any part thereof of which plaintiff complains

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Statement of the Facts

Since this case comes to this Court on demurrer, the relevant facts are drawn from Turner's operative pleadings, consistent with the Court of Appeal's recitation. (9 AA 2012–2226 ("First Amended Complaint"); 3 AA 519-677 ("Second Amended Petition").)

During his lifetime, Conrad Prebys ("Conrad") became a celebrated philanthropist—having made over \$350 million worth of gifts to many San Diego institutions. (9 AA 2015–16, 2022.) Furthering that legacy, Conrad left the majority of his \$1 billion estate to charity through the Conrad Prebys Foundation (the "Foundation"). (9 AA 2015–16, 2022.) In his trust instruments, Conrad named certain beneficiaries and left his remaining estate to the Foundation exclusively for charitable purposes. (9 AA 2022.) These instruments also address Conrad's decision in 2014 to

disinherit his son, Eric Prebys ("Eric"). (9 AA 2026-27.) The decision was not one that Conrad took lightly, but it was his to make—well-documented in the instruments prepared by Conrad's trust attorney, Jim Lauth ("Lauth"). (9 AA 2026-27.)

Within days of Conrad's passing, Lauth and successor Laurie Anne Victoria ("Victoria") trustee were already contemplating a settlement payment to Eric, directly contradicting Conrad's clear wishes and the express terms of his trust. (9 AA 2030–32.) To insulate herself from liability as trustee, Victoria and Lauth had the Foundation's board hastily pre-approve the settlement. (9 AA 2031.) Turner raised charity governance concerns regarding the poorly-informed vote and concerns over the board's adherence to their duties of care and loyalty to the charitable trust, but Victoria's counsel Lauth dismissively responded, "This is where you decide that there isn't a conflict." (9 AA 2036–37.)

The board vote ensued. Victoria voted for the settlement and was joined by directors Joseph Gronotte, Gregory Rogers, and Anthony Cortes (together with Victoria in her director-trustee role, "Respondents"). Each followed Victoria for their own motivations, with some even changing their votes on the settlement amount to match Victoria. (9 AA 2037.) Turner was the lone dissent. (9 AA 2014.) The board vote thus resulted in the improper diversion of \$15 million in charitable assets to a non-charitable purpose.

After the other charity directors ignored the demand letter and draft petition Turner served in March 2017, Turner promptly filed suit to rectify this improper diversion of charitable funds. (9 AA 2040–41.) Turner brought claims against Victoria (in her director-trustee capacity) and the three other directors. (3 AA 545–63.) In response, Respondents became openly hostile toward Turner. When Turner raised concerns that Respondents would remove her from the Foundation in retaliation for her enforcement action, Rogers responded the board was not going to remove her "now." (9 AA 2042–43.)

Instead, Respondents waited until the Foundation's annual board meeting on November 7, 2017—months after Turner had filed suit alleging misconduct by Respondents (including Victoria in her dual role as director-trustee). During the meeting, Respondents took turns nominating and seconding one another for re-election. Although Turner expressed her wishes before and during the meeting to remain a director, no one nominated or re-elected her, and she was forced to leave the meeting. Respondents appeared gleeful over the results of their orchestrated election. (9 AA 2045.)

Respondents later argued that Turner could have nominated herself, but self-nomination appears nowhere in the Foundation's bylaws. Nor did Turner believe that director self-nomination was an option as she was never told so by Foundation counsel (who was colluding with Respondents). Moreover, as Turner understood it, self-nomination contravened nonprofit governance best practices and was only appropriate for officer selection *after* the director election. (9 AA 2044–45, 2216.)

Regardless, any effort by Turner to self-nominate at the meeting would have been futile. Respondents retaliated against Turner, "improperly motivated by their desire to cut off this litigation." (9 AA 2042–46.) Not only would Turner's self-nomination not have been seconded by anyone, Respondents never would have voted to re-elect her by the majority vote needed under the charity's bylaws. (9 AA 2044–42, 2123.) This was confirmed when Turner sent a letter formally nominating herself for reelection to the open board seat. No one responded. (9 AA 2045–46, 2216.)

B. Procedural History

1. Probate Action

Turner filed the original probate petition on May 15, 2017, in trust proceedings before the Probate Court pursuant to her undisputed role as a Foundation director and officer under the charity director enforcement statutes, and derivatively as a charity member under section 5710.

Turner amended her petition on January 5, 2018 to, among other things, address her ouster. (3 AA 678-80.) Her Second Amended Petition alleged claims against Respondents (including Victoria as director-trustee) for breach of charitable trust, breach of their duties of care and loyalty, self-dealing, and breach of trustee's fiduciary duties, among other claims. (3 AA 545-63.) Victoria and the Foundation demurred asserting that Turner's ouster ended her standing to litigate the action to completion. (3 AA 704-47, 774-95.)

On its own motion, the Probate Court ordered the claims against the directors severed from the probate proceedings and transferred to Civil Court as a separate civil action. (2 RT 64-70;

4 AA 988-1032.) In so ordering, the Probate Court stated, "[t]he newly-filed civil complaint shall relate back to May 15, 2017, the filing date of Turner's original petition." (4 AA 988-89; 4 AA 995-96.)

2. Civil Action

On August 2, 2018, Turner filed a complaint in Civil Court on the four severed and transferred claims against Respondents, which she subsequently amended in her First Amended Complaint, alleging: (1) breach of charitable trust; (2) breach of fiduciary duty of care; (3) breach of fiduciary duties of loyalty and self-dealing; and (4) director removal. (9 AA 2012.)

3. Entry of Judgment and Appeal

The Civil Court sustained Respondents' demurrers to the FAC without leave to amend on ground that Turner lacked standing to continue litigating after she involuntarily lost her charity director and officer positions. (10 AA 2458.) Based solely on the Civil Court ruling, the Probate Court then dismissed Turner's claims against trustee Victoria for: (5) breach of trust and trustee's fiduciary duties; (6) accounting; (7) surcharge; (8) denial of trustee fees; and (9) trustee removal. (4 RT 220: 5-8, 11-15; 5 AA 1278-79.) Consequently, Turner never amended her Second Amended Petition to further address her standing to proceed against trustee Victoria beyond derivative standing under section 5710. (*Ibid.*)

Turner's consolidated appeal followed. The Attorney General filed an amicus brief supporting Turner's standing under the charity director enforcement statutes and the Second District's opinion in Summers v. Colette (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 361, 374 (Summers).² Notwithstanding Summers and the Attorney General's support for Turner, the Fourth District affirmed the judgments, while nevertheless clarifying, "[w]e in no way imply that Turner is a disgruntled or disaffected person who continued this litigation in bad faith after she lost her position as a director and officer." (Turner v. Victoria (2021) 67 Cal.App.5th 1099, 1135 (Turner).)

On November 10, 2021, this Court granted review.

ARGUMENT

I. CALIFORNIA'S CHARITY DIRECTOR ENFORCEMENT STATUTES EMPOWER DIRECTOR PLAINTIFFS WITH STANDING TO LITIGATE THEIR PREEXISTING MISCONDUCT CLAIMS TO COMPLETION.

Under California law, charity directors must act "in the best interests" of their charity "with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person" in managing charitable affairs for the public good. (§ 5231, subd. (a); see § 5047.5 [charity directors and officers are "critical" to "public service and charitable affairs of the people of California"].) "Although the public in general may benefit from any number of charitable purposes, charitable contributions must be used only for the purposes for which they were received in trust. [Citations]." (Holt v. College of Osteopathic Physicians and Surgeons (1964) 61 Cal.2d 750, 754 (Holt); see Rest., Charitable Nonprofit Orgs., § 1.01 (hereafter

21

² In *Summers*, the Attorney General also "filed an amicus brief in support of [the ousted director plaintiff] on appeal." (*Id.* at p. 375.)

Restatement) ["A charity is a legal entity with exclusively charitable purposes . . . prohibited from providing impermissible private benefit."].)

To ensure directors' adherence to their fiduciary duty, the Legislature enacted the charity director enforcement statutes. (§§ 5142, 5223, 5233.) The Legislature may, some in circumstances, "clearly manifest an intent to create a private cause of action. [Citation]." (Lu v. Hawaiian Gardens Casino (2010) 50 Cal.4th 592.) This is one of those circumstances, as the statutes in question expressly empower charity directors and officers to "bring" enforcement actions against culpable parties (including officers, directors, and trustees) to: "remedy a breach of a charitable trust" (§ 5142, subd. (a)); remove directors for "fraudulent or dishonest acts or gross abuse of authority . . . [or] breach of any duty" (§ 5223, subd. (a)); and invalidate "self-dealing transaction[s]" (§ 5233, subd. (a)).

Here, the Fourth District erred by affirming dismissal of both actions below on the ground that Respondents' orchestrated election eliminating Turner as a director, officer, and member thereby deprived her of standing to finish litigating her preexisting misconduct claims against them. "In reviewing a demurrer, [this Court] ask[s] only whether the plaintiff has alleged—or could allege—sufficient facts to state a cause of action against the defendant[s]. [Citation.]" (T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp. (2017) 4 Cal.5th 145, 155–56 (T.H.).) Whether the charity director enforcement statutes permit directors accused of wrongdoing to deprive responsible directors of standing by

removing or refusing to reelect them is a question of law subject to this Court's independent review. (*Christensen v. Lightbourne* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 761, 771 (*Christensen*).)

A. The unambiguous text and purpose of the charity director enforcement statutes squarely reject the Fourth District's continuous directorship requirement.

"When, as here, a cause of action is based on statute, standing rests on the provision's language, its underlying purpose, and the legislative intent. [Citation]." (Kim v. Reins Internat. Cal., Inc. (2020) 9 Cal.5th 73, 83 (Kim).) With respect to the charity director enforcement statutes, their text, purpose, and structure unambiguously evince the Legislature's intent for Turner and other similarly-situated charity directors or officers to litigate their existing malfeasance claims in full—regardless of whether their status is lost during the pendency of the litigation.

In construing statutes, the Court's "fundamental task is to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute." (Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83 (Smith).) "[B]egin[ning] with the language of the statute, giving the words their usual and ordinary meaning," and construing the language "in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme" (ibid.), this Court adopts a "construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute. [Citation.]" (Lee v. Hanley (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, 1233).

More than a half century ago, leading up to the enforcement

statutes' enactment, this Court underscored the crucial role of private enforcement in protecting charitable assets. In *Holt*, three minority trustees of a nonprofit college brought an enforcement action against 23 other trustees for breach of charitable trust. (*Holt*, *supra*, 61 Cal.2d 750.) Notwithstanding the defendant trustees' insistence that minority trustees cannot bring such an action (because the then-extant statutes specifically authorized the Attorney General to bring suit), this Court disagreed and held that private fiduciaries may bring enforcement actions against other fiduciaries to enjoin breaches of charitable trust. (*Ibid.*)

In *Holt*, this Court observed, "[a]lthough the Attorney General has primary responsibility for the enforcement of charitable trusts, the need for adequate enforcement is not wholly fulfilled by the authority given to him The administration of charitable trusts stands only to benefit if in addition to the Attorney General other suitable means of enforcement are available." (Holt, supra, 61 Cal.2d at pp. 755–56.) "There is no sound reason why minority directors or 'trustees' of a charitable corporation cannot maintain an action against majority trustees. ..." (Id. at p. 757.) Relevant to the Court's holding was "[t]he prevailing view of other jurisdictions," i.e., "that the Attorney General does not have exclusive power to enforce a charitable trust and that a trustee or other person having a sufficient special interest may also bring an action for this purpose." (Id. at p. 753; see ALI (Rest. 2d Trusts, § 391); 4 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (7th ed.), pp. 2918–19.)

According to this Court, private enforcement by responsible

persons is essential because "[b]eneficiaries of a charitable trust, unlike beneficiaries of a private trust, are ordinarily indefinite and therefore unable to enforce the trust in their own behalf." (Holt, supra, 61 Cal.2d at p. 754.) Given their fiduciary duties and ongoing liability for breaches occurring on their watch, directors and officers not only have "'at least as much interest in preserving the charitable funds as does the Attorney General who represents the general public," "but they are "'also in the best position to learn about breaches of trust and to bring the relevant facts to a court's attention." (Id. at p. 756 (quoting Kenneth L. Karst, The Efficiency of the Charitable Dollar: An Unfulfilled State Responsibility (1960) 733 HARV. L. REV. 433 at pp. 444–45 (hereafter Karst)).) Thus, *Holt* firmly acknowledged that the California public depends on charity directors and officers like Turner to safeguard charitable assets through private enforcement independent of the Attorney General's supervisory and public enforcement functions.

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