### No. S271054

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## DEBRA TURNER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

## LAURIE ANNE VICTORIA, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. D076318, D076337

> San Diego County Superior Court Trial Case No. 37-2017-00009873-PR-TR-CTL The Honorable Julia C. Kelety, Dept. 503 (Appeal No. D076318)

> San Diego County Superior Court Trial Case No. 37-2018-00038613-CU-MC-CTL The Honorable Kenneth J. Medel, Dept. C-66 (Appeal No. D076337)

## **RESPONDENT LAURIE ANNE VICTORIA'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

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

Notably, the Court justified directors' standing based on their *current* fiduciary duties and obligations. (See *ibid*.) The plaintiff-trustees were still in office, and the Court did not hold, let alone suggest, that former directors had standing to bring an action on the corporation's behalf. Importantly, and contrary to Turner's interpretation, the Court used the word "responsible" to mean the "responsibilities" of the nonprofit corporation's *current* directors—"fiduciaries who *are* both few in number and *charged with the duty of managing the charity's affairs*." (*Id.* at p. 755, italics added.) Former directors and officers, in contrast, are neither "responsible for administering the trust assets" nor "fiduciaries in performing their trust duties"—indeed, they no longer have those responsibilities. (*Id.* at p. 756.)<sup>4</sup>

In 1978, the Legislature codified the common law principle articulated in *Holt*—that "[o]ther than the Attorney General, only certain parties who have a special and defined interest in a charitable trust, such as a trustee, have standing to institute legal action to enforce or protect the assets of the trust." (*Hardman v. Feinstein* (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 157, 161–162, italics added.) In contrast to the predecessor statutes, which granted only the Attorney General representative authority to bring the nonprofit's claims (*Holt, supra*, 61 Cal.2d at pp. 754–755, citing former Corp. Code, §§ 9505, 10207), the Director Standing Statutes authorize certain classes of individuals to bring suit on a nonprofit corporation's behalf, including its directors and officers. (§ 5142, subd. (a)(2)–(3); § 5223, subd. (a); § 5233, subd. (c)(2)–(3).) The Director Standing Statutes are thus a limited exception to the rule

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Turner incorrectly cites footnote 4 from *Holt* as supposedly "repudiat[ing] analogies between the two corporate forms" i.e., for-profit and nonprofit. (Br. at 40.) *Holt* did not remotely go that far, as the Court of Appeal noted. (*Turner, supra*, 67 Cal.App.5th at p. 1124, fn. 10.) *Holt* merely rejected the defendant's "reference to the safeguards afforded in the area of private corporations"—such as posting an undertaking for suit—and decided "not [to] reach the question whether minority directors of a private corporation can bring an action [o]n behalf of the corporation." (*Holt, supra*, 61 Cal.2d at p. 762, fn. 4.) It was only in that limited context that the Court distinguished for-profits and nonprofits. (*Ibid.*) Moreover, the Legislature later confirmed, in enacting the Nonprofit Corporation Law, that the principles underpinning for-profit and nonprofit corporations generally are the same. (See *supra* Part V.A.1.)

that a nonprofit corporation's management is vested in the board as a whole. (§ 5210.)

"Neither the text nor the legislative history of these statutes suggests an intention to depart from the ordinary principles requiring a plaintiff to maintain standing throughout litigation." (Turner, supra, 67 Cal.App.5th at p. 1108.) Indeed, according to the drafters, the purpose of the Nonprofit Corporation Law was "to set forth, in one division of the Corporations Code, the principles of corporate law that apply to the formation, internal governance, and dissolution of nonprofit corporations"-principles which had been "incorporate[d] by reference [from] the old General Corporation Law." (Rep. of the Assem. Select Com. on Revision of the Nonprofit Corp. Code, 5 Assem. J. (1979–1980 Reg. Sess.) Aug. 27, 1979, pp. 9002–9003.) Recognizing the general applicability of these corporate law principles, the Legislature noted its intent to "follow[] the GCL format and language except where substantive differences require a different format and language." (Id. at p. 9004.) "Keeping the language the same also allows those using the New Law to benefit from judicial interpretations of the GCL." (Ibid.)

Thus, the core rationale of *Grosset* applies to representative standing under both the for-profit and nonprofit codes. Regardless whether the corporation is for-profit or nonprofit, "the authority to manage a corporation's affairs generally resides in its board of directors." (*Grosset, supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 1114; § 5210; § 300, subd. (a).) And whether the claims are on behalf of a for-profit or nonprofit, the "gravamen of the complaint is injury to the corporation." (*Grosset, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1108; *Turner, supra*, 67 Cal.App.5th at p. 1128.) Indeed, when a suit brought under the Director Standing Statutes is successful, "the corporation is the only party that benefits from any recovery." (*Grosset, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1108, internal citations and quotations omitted; *Turner, supra*, 67 Cal.App.5th at p. 1128.)

Accordingly, when an individual such as Turner purports to represent a corporation in litigation, "standing to maintain [the corporation's] claim is justified only by [her] relationship [with the corporation] and the indirect benefits made possible thereby, which furnish [her] with an interest and incentive to seek redress for injury to the corporation." (*Grosset, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1114.) "Once this relationship ceases to exist," as Turner's did when her terms expired, she "lacks standing because . . . she 'no longer has [an] interest in any recovery pursued for the benefit of the corporation." (*Ibid*.)

### 2. The Text and Purpose of the Director Standing Statutes Require Continuous Directorship

Consistent with these principles, the Director Standing Statutes on their face do not grant former directors standing to sue on a nonprofit corporation's behalf, and instead compel the conclusion that a plaintiff-director must maintain their status throughout the litigation. A continuous directorship requirement is also consistent with the statutes' intended purpose as well as the broader statutory framework.

#### a. Principles of Statutory Interpretation

"[W]e must begin by considering the statute's language and structure, bearing in mind that our fundamental task in statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the law's intended purpose." (*Weatherford, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1246.) The ultimate goal is to "choose the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute." (*Lee v. Hanley* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, 1233.)

"It will be presumed, of course, that in enacting a statute the Legislature was familiar with the relevant rules of the common law, and, when it couches its enactment in common law language, that its intent was to continue those rules in statutory form." (*Keeler v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 619, 625.) "As a general rule, [u]nless expressly provided, statutes should not be interpreted to alter the common law, and should be construed to avoid conflict with common law rules. A statute will be construed in light of common law decisions, unless its language clearly and unequivocally discloses an intention to depart from, alter, or abrogate the common-law rule concerning the particular subject matter." (*Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Solutions, Inc.* (2013) 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1193, internal citations and quotations omitted.) The Court of Appeal here faithfully applied these principles; the language Turner relies upon in *Summers* did not.

## b. The Plain Text of the Director Standing Statutes Does Not Grant Former Directors Standing

The statutory text demonstrates that Turner lost standing to pursue the Foundation's claims under the Director Standing Statutes when she was not reelected. Section 5142 enumerates who "may bring an action" of a nonprofit for breach of trust:

- (1) The corporation, or a member in the name of the corporation pursuant to Section 5710 [i.e., a derivative action].
- (2) An officer of the corporation.
- (3) A director of the corporation.
- (4) A person with a reversionary, contractual, or property interest in the assets subject to such charitable trust.
- (5) The Attorney General, or any person granted relator status by the Attorney General.

(§ 5142, subd. (a)(1)–(5).) The Director Standing Statutes grant standing to an officeholder—not any individual who has at some point held that office. While Turner suggests that "director" and "officer" impliedly includes former directors and officers who held office at the time they filed, there is no support for that in the text.

Indeed, when the Legislature intended to grant representative standing to a former status-holder, it did so explicitly. In section 9142, the parallel statute governing nonprofit religious corporations (enacted through the same bill), the Legislature added "former member" to the list of individuals who could bring a representative action. (§ 9142, subd. (a)(1), italics added [permitting "[t]he corporation, a member, or a former member" to "bring suit"].)<sup>5</sup> The lack of any reference to a "former" director, officer, or member in section 5142 was plainly intentional.

Similarly, when the Director Standing Statutes authorize the "Attorney General" to bring an action on behalf of a nonprofit corporation, the Legislature meant the *current* Attorney General. If former Attorney General Becerra had filed a lawsuit bringing claims on behalf of the Foundation, as Turner did, he would no longer have standing to bring those claims after leaving office. Likewise, relator status can be revoked, and beneficial interests can be satisfied. And director terms end. Just as a former Attorney General, former relator, and former beneficiary would not have standing to continue bringing claims, a former director and officer does not either.

Accordingly, there are only two interpretations of the language providing that a "director" or "officer" may "bring an action"—both of which lead to a continuing standing requirement. One interpretation is that the statutes refer simply to what must be pleaded to file the suit in the first instance—that the plaintiff is, on that day, a director or officer. Turner claims to favor this interpretation but misses a critical point. Under this interpretation, as with the derivative statute construed in *Grosset*, the statutory language *does not specify* what happens if the director loses their position during the lawsuit, leaving that possibility to be governed by bedrock presumptions of standing and corporate law. First, that the authority to manage the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Section 5220, subdivision (f), relating to removal and resignations, likewise refers to "former director[s]."

corporation's affairs resides in the board, not individuals. (*Grosset*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1114.) Second, that there is a limited exception for nonprofits' *current* "fiduciaries in performing their trust duties" who "are the ones solely responsible for administering the trust assets." (*Holt, supra*, 61 Cal.2d at p. 756.) And, third, that standing must continue at all times. (*Mervyn's, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 232–233.) Thus, the changed circumstances of an expired term lead to a loss of the representative plaintiff's standing.

The other interpretation is that the Director Standing Statutes contemplate who may "bring an action" from filing to judgment—the corporation, a director, an officer, a member, the Attorney General, a relator, or someone with a definite interest in the assets that are the subject of the charitable trust. (§ 5142, subd. (a)(1)–(5); § 5223, subd. (a); § 5233, subd. (c)(1)–(4).) Bringing an action means more than just filing a complaint, and also "encompasses . . . its *continued maintenance*." (*Curtis v. County of Los Angeles* (1985) 172 Cal.App.3d 1243, 1252.)<sup>6</sup> Similarly, "[a]n action is not limited to the complaint but refers to the entire judicial proceeding at least through judgment." (*Nassif v. Municipal Court* (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 1294, 1298.) In this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See also Mountain Air Enter., LLC v. Sundowner Towers, LLC (2017) 3 Cal.5th 744, 755 [declining to "adopt a technical reading of the word 'brought' as referring only to the initiation of a lawsuit"]; Cal. S. R. Co. v. S. Pac. R. Co. (1884) 65 Cal. 394, 395 [under eminent domain statute "all proceedings . . . [shall] be brought . . . means something more than that the proceeding must be commenced in such superior court"].

interpretation, both "bring an action" and the holders of the enumerated offices necessarily would be continuing concepts meaning, if the status in office did not continue, neither would the standing to bring the action.

Turner advocates for a third interpretation: an unnatural "mix and match" approach that presumes the Legislature changed verb tenses in the middle of a sentence—i.e., "bring an action" is a single moment in time, but one is a "director" or "officer" long after they cease to hold such roles. That would violate the maxim "a word is known by the company it keeps" ("Attorney General" and "relator" are time-limited concepts, and so is a person "with" a property interest in trust assets; thus "director" is too), as well as *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* (the statute lists "directors" but not "former directors"), and "[w]hen the reason of a rule ceases, so should the rule itself" (Civ. Code, § 3510).<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Turner argued below that the "may bring" language in the Director Standing Statutes compared to the "no action may be instituted or maintained" language in the Derivative Statute suggested different legislative intent. She did not raise that argument in her opening brief, and has thus waived it. In any event, that argument was based on a false parallelism—the structures of the Director Standing and Derivative Statutes are different, the phrases have similar meanings, and the Court in Grosset held that the "instituted or maintained" language did not compel the conclusion that there was a continuous ownership requirement. (Grosset, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 1113-1114.) To infer a difference here "based upon nothing more than language differences between the two code sections exceeds the limits of plausible inference." (Cf. Cianci v. Superior Court (1985) 40 Cal.3d 903, 922.)

Turner provides no basis for inferring the Legislature upended the bedrock principles above. Adopting her interpretation would nullify this Court's holding in *Mervyn's*, not to mention "alter" and "depart from" the principles underpinning *Grosset* and *Holt*, without the requisite "clear[] and unequivocal[]" legislative intent to do so. (*Aryeh*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1193.)

### c. A Continuous Directorship Requirement Furthers the Purpose of the Director Standing Statutes

Continuous directorship is not only supported by the statutory text, but also the purpose of the Director Standing Statutes, which are a limited exception to the rule that a nonprofit corporation's management (including the authority to sue) is vested in the board of directors as a whole. (Supra Part V.A.1.) The statutory purpose is as stated in *Holt*: to allow a nonprofit's claims to be brought by fiduciaries who "are ... charged with the duty of managing the charity's affairs" in addition to the Attorney General or a relator. (Holt, supra, 61 Cal.2d at p. 755, italics added.) But no more than that. The purpose is not, as with Turner's suit, to provide a vehicle for non-fiduciaries to seize control of a nonprofit's claims to further their personal agendaindeed, protecting against such "harassment" is a core purpose of the standing requirement. (Summers, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 372; cf. Rodriguez v. United States (1987) 480 U.S. 522, 525–526 (per curiam) ["[N]o legislation pursues its purposes at all costs."].)

Turner's claim that the Court of Appeal wrote "an escape hatch" into the statutes has no merit, for at least two main reasons. First, it relies entirely on her conclusory assertion that she was wrongfully removed. That is why Turner argues that *Summers* "mirrors the facts here" (Br. at 36), and repeatedly criticizes the Court of Appeal for not uncritically following *Summers*, which was a removal case. Second, Turner essentially ignores that the relator provisions and other avenues in the Director Standing Statutes make perpetual standing for a non-fiduciary unnecessary.

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